Case: 1:18-cv-04598 Document #: 1-4 Filed: 07/03/18 Page 1 of 62 PagelD #:46

Exhibit D

Transcript of Arraignment and Change of Plea Hearing
U.S. v. Khaleel Ahmed, ECF No. 135, No. 1:07-cr-647 (N.D. Ohio Feb. 4, 2009)

United States v. Khaleel Ahmed (N.D. I11.)
COMPLAINT TO REVOKE NATURALIZATION



Case: 1:08-cv-00698 IBCUDeat#1B8 Filed: 0T2034189P g Bhf BARFeiD 1260

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

UNI TED STATES
Pl aintiff,
V.

ZUBAI R AHMED,
KHALEEL AHMED,

Def endant s.

TRANSCRI PT OF ARRAI GNMENT AND CHANGE OF PLEA HEARI NG

UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
NORTHERN DI STRI CT OF OHI O
WESTERN DI VI SI ON

OF AMERI CA, - Docket No. 1:07-cr-647
- Tol edo, Ohio
- January 15, 2009
- Arrai gnment and
- Change of Plea
and -

BEFORE THE HONORABLE JAMES G. CARR

UNI

APPEARANCES:

For the Plaintiffs: United States Attorneys' Office

TED STATES DI STRI CT CHI EF JUDGE.

By: Thomas E. Getz

Justin E. Herdnan
801 Superior Avenue, W
Cl evel and, OH 44113
(216) 622-3840

U.S. Department of Justice
By: Gregg N. Sofer

816 Congress Avenue
Austin, TX 78701

(512) 916-5858

For the Def endant: Kirkland & Ellis

Khal eel Ahmed

By: Alyssa A. Qualls
M chael Sl ade

Suite 5400

200 East Randol ph Drive

Chi cago, IL 60601

(312) 861-2000




Case: 1:08-cv-02698 IBCUDeat1B8 Filed: 0T2034189P ags Bhf BARFeID 1263

1 For the Defendant: Friedman & Gil bert
Zubair A. Ahmed By: Terry H. G| bert
2 Andrea L. \Whitaker
600 Standard Buil di ng
3 1370 Ontario Street
Cl evel and, OH 44113
4 (216) 241-1430
5
Court Reporter: Tracy L. Spore, RMR, CRR
6 1716 Spi el busch Avenue
Tol edo, Ohio 43624
7 (419) 243-3607
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25| Proceedi ngs recorded by mechani cal stenography,
transcri pt produced by notereading.




14

14:

14

14

14

14

14

14:

14:

14:

14:

14:

14:

14:

14:

14:

14:

14:

14:

14:

14:

14:

14:

14:

18:

19:

19:

19:

19:

19:

19:

19:

19:

19:

20:

20:

20:

20:

20:

20:

20:

20:

20:

20:

20:

20:

20:

20:

58

02

06

08

10

14

18

20

24

54

02

04

10

14

16

20

22

26

30

36

46

48

50

52

Case: 1:08-cr-02698 IBCUDeat#1B8 Filed: 0T2034189Pg¥ 61f BARFetD 1269

1 (Commenced at 2:31 p.m)
2 THE CLERK: United States of Anmerica versus
3 Zubair and Khal eel Ahmed. Matter called for

41 arraignment on the superseding information

5 THE COURT: THE record should show the

6| government is represented by Assistant United States
7| Attorney Thomas Getz, Greg Sofer, and Justin Herdman.

8| Anybody else for the government ?

9 MR. HERDMAN: That's all, Your Honor
10 THE COURT: The record should also show the
11 | defendants are also present represented by counsel. It

12| my understanding that the parties have reached an

13| agreenent with regard to a change of plea. It's ny
14 understanding further that it is a binding plea

15| agreement and that the parties have also reached an

16 | understanding as to the sentencing guideline range.

17 Part of that agreement, according to my understanding,

18| which I have reviewed, is that the government will file

19| a superseding information which would take the place of

20| the pending indictment.

21 And let me speak to Zubair Ahmed first.
22| Ahmed, |'ve just summarized ny understandi ng of what
23] will be occurring this afternoon. I s that your

24 | understanding as well ?

25 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

S

M .
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1 THE COURT: M. Khal eel Ahmed, sanme
2| question: | just summarized nmy understandi ng of what
3| would be taking place this afternoon. | s that your

4|1 understanding as well?

5 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
6 THE COURT: You may be seated, and you can
7| remain seated during the colloquy. Bef ore we begin,

8| let me ask M. -- I'Il be asking you each generally the
9| same sets of questions. If you don't -- if either of

10| you don't understand, if you don't hear, or if you don't

11| understand what's going on, what |'m saying, what

it

12 | means, what any of the |lawyers may be saying or what it

13 means, say So. And I'min no rush this afternoon.

14| This is obviously an extremely inportant proceeding.

15| And you should be confident that you understand

16 | everything that's occurring. Do you understand that,

17 M. Ahmed, Zubair Ahmed?

18 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

19 THE COURT: Do you understand that, M.

20 Khal eel Ahmed?

21 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHVMED: Yes, Your Honor.
22 THE COURT: Don't hesitate. Let your

23| lawyer know, or sinply say, | need talk to you, and
24| they'll let me know, and we'll take whatever time is

25| necessary.
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1 M. Zubair Ahmed, are you currently

2| receiving any kind of medication of any sort, taking
3| sort of medication?

4 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: No, Your Honor.
5 THE COURT: | assume, and | don't nean to
6| insult you by the next question, but have you had any
7| alcoholic beverages within the | ast 48 hours?

8 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: No, sir.

9 THE COURT: So far as you are able to tel
10| on your own, are you alert and able to foll ow and

11| understand what's going on?

12 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, sir.

13 THE COURT: And also to express yourself
14| to comunicate with counsel and understand what they
15| saying?

16 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
17 THE COURT: M . Khal eel Ahmed, |ikewi se,
18 | you taking any medication of any type.

19 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: No, Your Honor ?
20 THE COURT: Have you had any al coholic

21| beverages within the |last 48 hours?

22 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHVMED: No, Your Honor.
23 THE COURT: As best you can tell, as best
24| any of us can ever tell, are you alert and able to

25| follow what is going on and to express yourself and t

any

and
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communi cate with counsel and to understand what they
m ght be saying to you?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Each of you stand charged in a
supersedi ng i nformati on. Let nme ask you this: Counsel
for Khal eel Ahmed, have you received and reviewed the
superseding information with your client?

MR. SLADE: Yes, we have, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Counsel for Zubair Ahnmed,

i kewi se?

MR. Gl LBERT: Yes, we have.

THE COURT: Do you waive any defects in
form manner, time, or place of service of the
superseding i nformation?

MR. SLADE: We do, Judge.

MR. Gl LBERT: We do, Judge.

THE COURT: That document reads as foll ows:

From a date unknown, but beginning no |ater
t han on or about April 1, 2004, and continuing until on
or about February 21, 2007, the defendants, Zubair Ahmed
and Khal eel Ahmed, within, but not |limted to, the
Nort hern District of Ohio, unlawfully and know ngly did
conmbi ne, conspire, confederate, and agree w th other
persons, known and unknown, to provide material support

and resources, including but not limted to the
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1| defendants thensel ves as personnel, know ng and

2| intending that they were to be used in preparation for

3] and in carrying out a violation of Title 18, United

4| States Code, Section 956, conspiracy to kill or maim

51 individuals outside the United States, including members

6| of the U S. mlitary serving in Iraq and Afghani stan,
7| violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section

8| 2339A. And | assune it's been signed by M. Edwards.
9 MR. HERDMAN: |t was signed by David Bauer
10 | but on behalf of M. WIIliamJ. Edwards.

11 THE COURT: M. Herdman, the penalty upon
12 | conviction of this offense?

13 MR. HERDMAN: Maxi mum of 15 years

14| incarceration, $250,000 fine, and three years post

15 rel ease.

16 THE COURT: And a special assessment of

17 | $1007?

18 MR. HERDMAN: $100, yes, sir.

19 THE COURT: M. Khal eel Ahmed, did you hear

20| what M. Herdman said about the penalty upon conviction?
21 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHVMED: Yes, Your Honor.

22 THE COURT: M. Zubair Ahmed, did you hear

23| what M. Herdman said about potential penalty upon
24 conviction?

25 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

n
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1 THE COURT: Okay. ' m going to go th
2| series of subjects that | will be asking you abou
3| Generally I will be rem nding you of the nature o

41 charge to which you expect to plead guilty or ant
51 pleading guilty. There's no expectation until t
6| actually occurs, of course. But | will be resta
7| summary form the charge and the penalty, and | w
8| describe to you certain basic rights that anyone

9] with a federal crime has under the constitution a
10| of the United States. | will satisfy nmyself tha
11 | understand what those rights are, and also you

12 understand that by giving up those rights -- by p
13| gquilty, excuse me, that you understand that by pl
14| quilty, you're giving up those rights; you are wa
15| those rights, except the right to counsel; you ke
16| right to have a |awyer and have a | awyer represen
17| you without cost to yourself throughout these ent
18 | proceedings until and through the tinme of sentenc
19| A plea of guilty has no effect at all on your rig
20| counsel.

21 | will then, assum ng that | find tha
22 | understand the nature and consequences of convict
23| your basic rights and the fact that you are givin
24| those rights, I will ask you what your plea is.

251 then | will ask you certain questions to satisfy

rough a
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1| that your decision to plead truly is a voluntary

2| decision, that it is what you want to do because you

3] think that it's in your best interest to do that rather

41 than to exercise your right to stand trial and be f

ound

5] guilty only upon the determ nation by a jury that you

6| are, in fact, guilty beyond a reasonabl e doubt .
7 | will undertake to satisfy myself that
8| haven't been threatened in any way, neither you nor

9| anyone close to you has been threatened in any way,

you

and

10| there are no prom ses of any kind whatsoever that have

11| been made to you by anybody except those that are in the
12 pl ea agreenent.

13 | would expect then to go through the plea
14 | agreenent, ask you various questions about the various
15 provi sions of that agreenent. And if |I'm satisfied that
16 | you know what you are doing and it is what you want to
17| be doing, | will accept -- | will find that your are

18| offering the plea voluntarily, know ngly, intelligently,

19| voluntarily.

20 Then I will ask either you or your attorneys

21| or the government, or perhaps all three of you or al

22| four of you, to tell me just exactly what it is that you

23 did that constitutes a violation of the statute under

24| which you are charged. And if |'m satisfied that,

25| fact, you did something to violate that statute,

in

wi ||
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10
1| then -- | would expect to accept your plea of guilty and
2| enter a finding of guilty following all of that.

3 | just laid out a sunmary. | may not have
41 touched all the bases. Along the way if | fail to touch
51 all the bases | will be calling on counsel to rem nd ne
6| to do so.

7 | ve already asked you about your ment al

8| acuity and your ability to understand what's going on

9] and to think for yourselves. There will be a finding

10| that each defendant is conpetent to consult with

11| counsel, to understand the nature and substance and

12 | consequences of these proceedings, and to conmmuni cate

13| with counsel and the Court and to do so in an

14| intelligent and know ng fashion.

15 ' m going to ask both of you to stand and

16 | raise your right hands, please, and have you sworn.

17 (Whereupon the defendants are sworn by the
18| clerk.)

19 THE COURT: As | said, you can be seated.

20| Once again, | want to just rem nd you if you don't

21| understand sonet hing, because a lot of what | will be

22| saying will be somewhat |egal |anguage, I'Il try make it
23| as sinmple and conprehensi bl e as possi bl e. But if you
24| don't hear or understand what |'m saying, say so.

25 Do you understand first that having sworn or




14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14:

14:

14:

14:

14:

14:

14:

14:

14:

14:

14:

14:

14:

14:

14:

14:

14:

14:

31:

31:

31:

31:

31:

31:

31:

31:

31:

31:

31:

31:

31:

31:

31:

31:

31:

32:

32:

32:

32:

32:

32:

32:

32:

10

14

18

22

26

30

34

36

36

38

40

44

46

48

52

56

58

00

02

04

04

06

06

10

12

Case: 1:03-cx-l2G9B IaCueat#:1B3%3 Hied: 0020341@9P adeol B of BAdRE{etD 1230

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

11

affirmed to tell the truth during these proceedi ngs that
if it is determned that you did not do so, you can be
further prosecuted for commtting perjury, which is
I ying under oath or affirmation, or for making a false
statement. And any statenments you made in this
proceedi ng that are false can be used against you in
t hat prosecution. Do you understand that, M. Zubair
Ahmed?
DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
THE COURT: M . Khal eel Ahmed?
DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Do you understand that you have
the absolute right to plead not guilty and to persist in
that plea; in other words, to maintain that plea if you
desire to do so?
DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Do you understand you have the
absolute right to trial by jury?
DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
THE COURT: And that you woul d be present
t hroughout the proceedings |eading to the selection of
the jurors who would sit in judgment upon you? You

understand that you can participate in that proceeding
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12
1| through counsel ?
2 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
3 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
4 THE COURT: Do you understand that, as |I've
5| already mentioned -- it's worth mentioning again -- that

6| each of you has the absolute right to be represented by
7] an attorney and to have that attorney provided to you

8| without cost to yourself if you cannot afford a | awyer?

9 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHNMED: Yes, Your Honor
10 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHNMED: Yes.
11 THE COURT: And that each of you has the

12| right to your own | awyer, that you don't have to share a

13| lawyer with anybody?

14 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHNMED: Yes, Your Honor.
15 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHNED: Yes, Your Honor.
16 THE COURT: And are you satisfied that each

17 | of your attorneys have worked separately and
18 | i ndependently on your own behalf and have | ooked out

19| solely and exclusively for your interests?

20 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHNMED: Yes, Your Honor.
21 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHNED: Yes, Your Honor.
22 THE COURT: | mean, | assume that they

23| worked closely together, but nonetheless, you're content

24| that they have represented you and not the other person

25 in this case?
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DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you understand that if there
were a trial, you would have the absolute right to be
present throughout the entire proceedings?

DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And that you would have the
right to be -- that would also obviously include the
right to be present during the time when the government
was presenting witnesses and evidence and -- when the
government was presenting evidence, including witnesses
and exhi bits and any other evidence against you; that
you'd have the right to be present while all that was
happeni ng?

DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You understand al so through your
attorneys you have the absolute right to have those
wi t nesses questioned on your behalf? Any | awful
guestions could be put to then?

DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHVMED: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you understand that you have

t he absolute right to remain silent; and that in no way,
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under no circunstance could you be conmpelled to either
testify or otherwi se present evidence agai nst yourself?
Do you understand that?

DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Il n other words, that the
government and the government al one bears the absol ute
and conpl ete burden of proving you guilty at trial?
DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
THE COURT: And that you could not be found
guilty until they had produced evidence sufficient to
convince the jury that you are guilty beyond a
reasonabl e doubt? Do you understand that?
DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
THE COURT: And you understand that you
woul d have the right if there were to be a trial to
testify if you chose to testify?
DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
THE COURT: And that's a decision that only
you can meke. I n other words, your |awyers cannot make
t hat decision for you one way or the other. It's up to
you, if there were a trial, to decide whether you want
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1| to take the stand or not. Do you understand that?
2 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
3 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
4 THE COURT: Do you understand also that if
5| there were a trial, in addition to being able to testify

6| on your own behalf if you wanted to, you could also have

7| witnesses summoned to appear in court to testify for you
8| without cost to yourself? Do you understand that?

9 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

10 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
11 THE COURT: Also you could cause subpoenas

12| to issue and otherwi se cause evidence of any kind

13 | whatsoever to be brought into court to be presented in

14 | your defense. Do you understand that?

15 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
16 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
17 THE COURT: Do you understand that if |

18 | accept your plea of guilty and enter a finding of

19| guilty, that that constitutes a conplete and absol ute

20| waiver of all the rights that I've enunmerated except

21| right to counsel? Do you understand that?

22 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
23 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
24 THE COURT: In other words if you offer and

25| if | accept a plea of guilty, there will be no trial

t he
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1| any kind whatsoever. Do you understand that?

2 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
3 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
4 THE COURT: And that this basically is it.

51 Do you understand that?

6 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

7 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, sir.

8 THE COURT: Except for sentencing.

9 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
10 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, sir.

11 THE COURT: As | have just previously read,

12| you each stand charged with a violation of Title 18,
13 Section 2339A. The shorthand definition of what that

14| statute prohibits is providing material support to

15| terrorists. It does so in the |anguage that | read to

16 | you and as is reflected in the indictment, namely

17 | specific charges that you conspired, that is, you worked

18 | together, you agreed with each other and with others to

19| kill or maimindividuals overseas, including United

20| States mlitary personnel. Do you understand what it
21| is the government claims you did?

22 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
23 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHVMED: Yes, Your Honor.
24 THE COURT: And that if you are convicted,

25| you can receive a termof up to 15 years inmprisonnent

to
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be foll owed -- whatever term of inmprisonment you m ght
get to be followed by up to three years of supervised
rel ease. Do you understand that?
DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Supervi sed rel ease means you're
under the authority and supervision of the U S. Pretrial
Service and Probation Departnment, that you will have
certain conditions, certain requirenments that you'l
have to follow, that if you fail to comply with all the
conditions of supervised release, you can and in al
i keli hood would be returning to prison. Do you
under stand that?
DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
THE COURT: And also you could be fined up
to $250, 000.
DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
THE COURT: And there's what's called a
speci al assessnent of $100.
There's no mandatory m ni mum penalty?
MR. HERDMAN: No, Your Honor, there's not.
THE COURT: There's no forfeiture?

MR. HERDMAN: No, there's not.
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THE COURT: There's no restitution?

MR. HERDMAN: No.

THE COURT: You understand and have your
attorneys explained to you that at time of sentencing, |
will look to the federal sentencing guidelines when |
determ ne your sentence. Do you understand that?

DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you al so understand that
pursuant to the terns of the plea agreenments as |
understand them you and the government have agreed and
if I accept your pleas, | am bound to sentence you
within a particular range of nonths. Do you understand
t hat ?

DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: That the government cannot ask
that | go outside that range, and neither can you; do
you understand that?

DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You al so understand if | accept
t hese agreenents that | cannot go outside the range one
way or the other? Do you understand that?

DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, sir.
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1 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHVMED: Yes, sir.
2 THE COURT: And that the determ nation of
3| that range in this case is in accordance with the
4| federal sentencing guidelines. Do you understand that?
5 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
6 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
7 THE COURT: Have you had a chance to talk
8| over with your attorneys the general nature of the
9| sentencing guidelines and how they will be operating in
10| your case?
11 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, we did, Your
12 Honor .
13 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
14 THE COURT: And do you understand that anong

15| other provisions in your plea agreenment, you have agreed

16 | that if -- you have agreed that you will not appeal,

17| will you otherw se chall enge or attack either your

18 | conviction or sentence?

19 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
20 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor
21 THE COURT: That's provided the sentence

22| that you get is in accordance with what you agreed to
23 | your plea agreenment. Do you understand that?
24 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

25 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor

nor

in
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1 THE COURT: Ckay. s there anything,
2| counsel, that | should ask the defendants further before
31 I find that the defendants are conpetent to plead, that
4| they are aware of the nature of the charge agai nst them
5] and the consequences of conviction, that they are aware
6| of and understand their fundamental rights and those
7| rights which they are giving up?
8 MR. HERDMAN: Can we approach on that; is it
9| possible?
10 (Di scussion had off the record.)
11 THE COURT: M. Zubair Ahmed and M. Khal eel
12 | Ahnmed, M. Herdman's called ny attention to the fact
13| that | did not receive or have filed or have in front of
14 | me your waiver of indictment. So to back all the way
15| up, you have been charged by way of a superseding
16 | information. An information is a charge made just by
17| the prosecutor's office. You have the absolute right to
18 | be charged by way of a grand jury indictment, as you
19| have been previously in this case.
20 M. Zubair Ahmed, do you understand you have
21| the right to be charged only by a grand jury indictnment
22| if you want?
23 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
24 THE COURT: And are you willing to proceed
25| on the basis of this superseding information, which is
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1] sinply a charge made by the prosecutor's office?
2 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, | am, Your
3| Honor.
4 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
5 THE COURT: You understand your right to a
6| grand jury indictment, M. Khaleel Ahmed?
7 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHVMED: Yes, Your Honor.
8 THE COURT: And you're willing to proceed
9] this afternoon on this superseding informtion?
10 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
11 THE COURT: And, M. Zubair Ahmed, before
12 | deciding to do so, did you have enough opportunity to
13| talk to your counsel, whether to waive your right to
14| indictnment?
15 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, | did, Your
16 Honor .
17 THE COURT: M . Khal eel Ahmed?
18 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHVMED: Yes, Your Honor.
19 THE COURT: And is your decision to proceed
20| by way of indictment voluntary? I n other words, it's
21| what you want to do?
22 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
23 THE COURT: M. Khal eel Ahmed, it's what you

24 want to do too?

25 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor
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1 THE COURT: No threats or prom ses were made

2| to you except any prom ses in the plea agreenent to

3| cause you to --

4 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: None what soever,

5 Your Honor .
6 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: No.

7 THE COURT: Sanme question to you, M.

8| Khal eel Ahmed: Except for the prom ses made in the plea

9| agreement, were any threats or prom ses nmade to you to

10 | cause you to waive your right to indictnment?

11 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: No.
12 THE COURT: Do you have the signed copies of
13| the waivers? Just bring them up to be fil ed. Let

14| take a | ook at them, please.

15 | have signed the waivers and dated them

16 | today's date. Was there anything el se before | proceed

17 to the issue of voluntariness and then determ ne the --

18| go through the plea agreenent, determ ne the factua

19 basi s?

20 MR. HERDMAN: No, Your Honor.

21 THE COURT: Did I mss anything so far?

22 MR. SLADE: | don't think so, Judge.

23 MR. Gl LBERT: No, Your Honor.

24 THE COURT: Okay. Let me talk first to M.

25| Zubair Ahmed. You are here to change your former plea
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1| of not guilty and to plead guilty to the charge in the
2| superseding information; is that correct?
3 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, sir.
4 THE COURT: And during the time | eading up
5] to this afternoon, | don't want to know what your
6| |awyers said or what you said, but |I'm going to ask you
7| generally about the nature of certain discussions.
8 And, counsel, if you think I'm touching upon
9] anything that should be covered by attorney/client
10 privilege, say so.
11 Have you tal ked over with your attorneys the
12 | general issue of whether you should accept this
13| agreenent or you should go to trial?
14 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, | did, Your
15 Honor .
16 THE COURT: Are you satisfied that they've
17| given you enough time and attention during those
18 | discussions to enable you to nmake the decision that you
19| want to make and is in your best interest?
20 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: | am conpl etely
21| satisfied with counsel, Your Honor.
22 THE COURT: But are you also conpletely
23| satisfied that this is the best thing for you to do?
24 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, | am, Your
25| Honor.
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1 THE COURT: Obvi ously you wi sh you weren't

2 her e. We all wunderstand that.

3 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Of course, Your
4 Honor .
5 THE COURT: But being here, being charged,

6| and taking into consideration the advice of counsel,

7] this is what you want to do?

8 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, it is, Your
9 Honor .
10 THE COURT: Have you been threatened in any

11| way whatsoever with any kind of harm physical or

12 | otherw se, by the government or anybody else to cause

13| you to decide to plead guilty?

14 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: | haven't, Your

15 Honor .

16 THE COURT: Has anybody close to you --

17| famly nmenmbers, relatives, friends -- to your know edge

18 been threatened or told harm would come to them or to

19| you if you did not plead guilty to this charge?

20 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: No, Your Honor.
21 THE COURT: "Il go through the many of the
22| provisions in the plea agreement shortly. Beyond t he

23| prom ses and comm tnments the government makes in that

24 | docunent, has it or has anybody el se prom sed you

25| anything of any kind whatsoever to cause or to encourage
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1| you to plead guilty this afternoon?
2 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: No, Your Honor.
3 THE COURT: Is there any way in which your
4| decision to plead guilty is not entirely your decision?
5| Let nme rephrase it. | mentioned a while ago that the
6| right to testify is up to you to make. That's your
7| choice. Also in the same way the decision whether to
8| go to trial or to plead guilty is your choice. Your
9| lawyers can't make that for you. Do you understand
10| that?
11 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, | do.
12 THE COURT: They can talk to you. They can
13 | encourage you. But at the end when you stand up and

14 | when | say, "How do you plead?" and you say, "Guilty,

15| Your Honor," you are the only one who can decide to say
16| gquilty. Do you understand that?

17 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: | do understand

18 | that.

19 THE COURT: So when | ask you, is this your

20| choice and your choice alone, guided by counsel's advice

21| to you --
22 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes it is.
23 THE COURT: I n every respect possible it

24| a free and voluntary decision on your part?

25 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: It is a voluntary
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1 deci si on.

2 THE COURT: Are you confident that you know

3| what's going on and you know what the options are and

4| possible outconmes m ght be?

5 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

6 THE COURT: And you understand that nobody

7| can predict what can happen at a trial if you were to

8| stand trial? You m ght be found not guilty; you m ght

9| be found guilty. VWho knows? Do you understand that?

10 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: | completely

11 under st and that, Your Honor.

12 THE COURT: Anything further that | should

13| ask M. Zubair Ahmed before finding that the plea he

14| will be offering this afternoon is know ng, intelligent,

15| and voluntary?

16 MR. HERDMAN: No, Your Honor.

17 THE COURT: Counsel .

18 MR. Gl LBERT: No, Your Honor.

19 THE COURT: M . Khal eel Ahmed. You' ve

20| heard the questions | put to your cousin, M. Zubair

21| Ahmed.

22 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHVMED: Yes, Your Honor.
23 THE COURT: | expect and want to put the
24 | same questions to you. If I mss one or nore, if |

25 were to ask you the same questions, would your answers
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1| be the same as his?
2 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: They woul d be the
3| same, Your Honor.
4 THE COURT: Il n other words, you're doing
5|1 this because you want to do it, given the options that
6| seemto be before you?
7 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
8 THE COURT: Nobody ever really wants to
9| plead guilty, obviously, to a serious federal crime, but
10| for you this afternoon of all the options before you,
11| this is the one that you have chosen to take; is that
12 correct?
13 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
14 THE COURT: And |ikewi se, are you confident
15| that your | awyers have given you both enough time and
16 | attention for themto give you advice that is worthwhile
17| and for you to take into consideration?
18 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
19 ' m satisfied.
20 THE COURT: But you al so understand that
21| they can't make or cause you to plead guilty? You
22 | understand that?
23 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
24 THE COURT: They can encourage you; they can

25| advise you. But it is your decision.
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DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHVMED: Yes.

THE COURT: You can change it until the time
comes to plead. Do you understand that?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes.

THE COURT: Have you been threatened with
any kind of harm or injury by anybody from the
government or anybody else if you did not plead guilty?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: No .

THE COURT: Pardon?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Nobody has
t hreatened ne.

THE COURT: Li kewi se, has anybody to your
know edge threatened anybody close to you like a
relative or close friend or anybody else with either
harm to you or to themif you did not plead guilty?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: No, sir.

THE COURT: Except for the prom ses made in
the plea agreenment, has the government or anybody el se
made you any prom ses or commtnments of any kind
what soever to cause you to plead guilty?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: So once again, you are satisfied
that this is the best thing for you to do?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And it's what you want to do
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1| you do the same thing at sone point?
2 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, sir.
3 THE COURT: Have | at any time whatsoever or
41 in any way whatsoever engaged in any part of
51 negotiations between you and the government ?
6 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: No, Your Honor.
7 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: No, Your Honor.
8 THE COURT: Have you ever had the sense or
91 inpression, do you now have the sense or inpression that
10 | ' ve engaged in any way whatsoever with any negoti ations
11| on the part of the government -- between you and the

12 gover nment ?

13 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: No, Your Honor.
14 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: No, Your Honor.
15 THE COURT: Do you understand that | truly

16 | don't care whether you go to trial or not? That's up

17| to you. Do you under stand that?

18 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
19 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHVMED: Yes, Your Honor.
20 THE COURT: So you're satisfied | haven't

21| played any role whatsoever in the decision here today?

22 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, |'m satisfi ed.
23 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
24 THE COURT: Counsel would concur, | assune,

25| that | played no role in the negotiations of any kind?
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1 THE JUROR: The government concurs.

2 MR. Gl LBERT: We concur.

3 MR. SLADE: And we concur.

4 THE COURT: M. Zubair Ahmed, have you

51 signed the plea agreenent?

6 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, | have, Your
7 Honor .

8 THE COURT: M. Khal eel Ahmed, have you

9| signed it?

10 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHVMED: Yes, Your Honor.
11 THE COURT: Has the government signed it?
12 MR. HERDMAN: Yes, Your Honor.

13 THE COURT: If you'll bring them up and have
14| them marked as Zubair Ahnmed Exhibit 1 and Khal eel Ahmed
15| Exhibit 1.

16 MR. HERDMAN: They're marked A and B for the
17| record.

18 THE CLERK: Zubair Ahmed is A; Khal eel Ahmed
19| is B.

20 THE COURT: "1l ask each of you please to
21| review that docunment and/or read it as closely as you
22 | want to. And then when you are done doing so, |I'm

23| going to ask you whether you have done so, if you're

24| famliar with it, if you've been able to talk it over
25| with your attorneys, so forth and so on, and whet her
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that is your signature that appears at the end of the
document .

(Di scussion had off the record.)

THE COURT: M. Zubair Ahmed, have you
| ooked at the docunent ? What is it marked as?

MR. Gl LBERT: A, Your Honor .

THE COURT: Have you | ooked at what's been
mar ked Exhi bit A?

DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: \What do you recognize it to be?

DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: It's a plea
agreement, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Have you read that agreenent?

DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, | did, Your
Honor .

THE COURT: Have you talked it over with
your attorneys?

DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, | have.

THE COURT: Have they talked it over with
you enough to answer any and all questions that you
m ght have about the docunment?

DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Al'l guestions were
answer ed, Your Honor.

THE COURT: About what the document says and
what it means?
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DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes.

THE COURT: Have you al so had an opportunity

to talk over with them the consequences of your agreeing

to and signing that document ?
DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Does that bear your signature?
DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, it does, Your
Honor .
THE COURT: \When did you sign it?
DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Today, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Okay. The sanme, M. Khal ee

Ahmed. Do you recognize what's been marked as Exhi bit

B?
DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHVMED: Yes, Your Honor.
THE COURT: \What is it?
DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: It's the plea
agreement .

THE COURT: And is that the agreement that
you signed and entered into between yourself and the
gover nment ?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHVMED: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Does it have your signature on

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And have you read it?
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DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHVMED: Yes.

THE COURT: Have you gone over it with your
attorneys?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And have they answered each and
every question that you m ght have had about the
document ?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: About what it says?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHVMED: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: About what it means?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And the consequences of signing
t hat agreement ?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHVMED: Yes.

THE COURT: | am going to ask you a couple
guesti ons. Maybe if you can foll ow al ong.

M. Zubair Ahmed, | refer you to page 6, the
m ddl e of the page. It reads at the end of the line
begi nning with the word " decrease.” At the far end of
the line beginning -- |I'll begin reading as follows:
"The parties each agree to request and recomend a
specific sentence between 100 and 125 nonths, which is
within the range determ ned pursuant to the advisory
sentencing guidelines."™ Do you see that?
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1 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHNMED: Yes, Your Honor.
2 THE COURT: Do you understand that if |
3| accept your plea and the terns and conditions of this
4|1 agreement, you will be sentenced to somewhere within 100

5| nonths to 125 nonths? Do you understand that?

6 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, | do, Your

7 Honor .

8 THE COURT: The sentence won't be greater

9| than 125 nonths; it won't be |less than 100 nonths. Do
10| you understand that?

11 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: | do, Your Honor.
12 THE COURT: You are willing to accept that
13| as the sentence in this case?

14 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
15 THE COURT: Then M. Zubair Ahmed -- excuse
16 | nme, Khal eel Ahmed, if you'll turn to page 6, about the
17| fourth or fifth line down -- | guess the third |ine.

18 "Il read follow ng:

19 The parties each agree to request and

20| recommend a specific sentence between 92 and 115 nont hs,

21| which is within the range determ ned pursuant to the
22| advisory sentencing guidelines.

23 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHVMED: Yes, Your Honor
24 THE COURT: You understand that your

25| sentence, if | accept your plea of guilty and concur

n
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it and in this agreement, your sentence, you'll serve at
| east 92 nonths in prison, and perhaps as much as 115
mont hs? Do you understand that?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Let nme ask you, M. Zubair
Ahmed, do you understand that the decision of where
within that range your sentence will be is entirely up
to me? Do you understand that?

DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, | do, Your
Honor .

THE COURT: That before |I make that
deci sion, a presentence report will be prepared. You
will see that, go over it with your |awyer. You can
make any objections, and you can speak on your own
behal f before |I decide what sentence to inpose. Do you
under stand that?

DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, | do, Your
Honor .

THE COURT: Li kewi se, M. Khal eel Ahmed, do
you understand where within the range specified in the
agreement | inpose the sentence is entirely up to ne?
Do you understand that?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: No prom ses have been made to

you about what |I'm going to do?
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DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHVMED: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Pardon?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: No prom ses have
been made.

THE COURT: Li kewi se, M. Zubair Ahmed, no
one's prom sed you what |I'm going to do or have you
tried to predict?

DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor,
' m confident in your decision.

THE COURT: M. Khal eel Ahmed, are you
willing to accept a sentence within that range?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: The government will be
dism ssing the indictment upon acceptance of the plea;
is that correct?

MR. HERDMAN: Upon sentencing, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You're right. And that's
typical, by the way. That's standard.

| am now going to -- |I'm going to ask the
government, if this is agreeable to the parties, to

state in summary fashion what it believed the evidence
woul d have shown if this case were to come to trial and
t hat evidence upon which the governnent believes a

conviction could have been obtained. Then | will ask

t he defendants to |listen carefully to that.
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1 Il will ask them first if that's their
2| understandi ng of what the evidence m ght have been;
3| secondly, whether they did those things that the

41 government claim that they did.

5 The purpose of this, M. Zubair Ahmed and

6| M. Khaleel Ahmed, is to make sure that you did

7| something that violated the |aw. It's called a factua
8| basis. Even if you plead guilty, if I'm not satisfied
9| that what you did violated the law, | can't accept your
10| plea of guilty. That's how | propose to proceed.

11| that agreeable to the governnent?

12 MR. HERDMAN: Yes, Your Honor.

13 THE COURT: Counsel for M. Khal eel Ahmed,
14| is that agreeabl e?

15 MR. Gl LBERT: Yes, Judge.

16 MR. SLADE: Yes, Your Honor.

17 THE COURT: So, gentlemen, if you'll listen

18| very carefully.

19 M. Herdman, you may proceed.
20 MR. HERDMAN: | would ask to read these
21| separately. The facts are generally the sanme. Thi s

221 will be directed to M. Zubair Ahmed first.
23 Were this case to proceed to trial, Your
24 | Honor, the government could have proved beyond a

25 reasonabl e doubt --
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1 THE COURT: A little more slowy.
2 MR. HERDMAN: Woul d this case have proceeded
3] to trial, the government could have proven beyond a
41 reasonabl e doubt that the defendant, Zubair Ahmed,
5| conspired along with others, including Khaleel Ahmed, to

6| provide material support and resources, including but

7| not limted to hinmself as personnel, know ng and

8| intending that the material support and resources were

9| to be used in preparation for and in carrying out a

10 violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 956,

11| conspiracy to kill and maim individuals outside the
12 United States, including nmembers of the U S. mlitary
13| serving in Iraq and Afghani stan.

14 As overt acts in furtherance of this

15| conspiracy, at a date unknown, but no |l ater than Apri
16 | 1, 2004, defendant Zubair Ahmed and others, including

17 | Khal eel Ahmed, made preparations to travel overseas i

18 | order to engage in acts which would result in the murder

19| or maimng of U S. mlitary forces in either Iraq or
20 | Afghani st an.

21 On or about May 21, 2004, the defendant,

22 | Zubair Ahmed, and others, including Khaleel Ahmed, did,

23] in fact, travel to Cairo, Egypt with the intent of

24| engaging in acts which would result in the murder or

25| maimng of U S. mlitary forces in Iraq or Afghanistan.

n
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On or about July 4, 2004, the defendant,
Zubair Ahmed, discussed, sought, and received
instruction from another individual in Cleveland, Ohio
on the topic of firearns. Specifically, the defendant
di scussed his desire to |l earn how to use and nmove a .50
cal i ber machi ne gun. On the sane date, defendant
Zubair Ahmed al so sought and di scussed instruction from
the same individual on the topics of
counter-surveillance techni ques and sniper rifles.

From a date unknown but no | ater than
January 1, 2004, the defendant, Zubair Ahmed, and
ot hers, including Khal eel Ahmed, conmuni cated using code
wor ds and spoke in a foreign |anguage in order to
di scuss the preparations and plans to engage in acts
outside the United States which would result in the
murder or maimng of U S. mlitary forces in lIraq or
Af ghani st an.

From a date unknown but no |ater than July
4, 2004, the defendant, Zubair Ahmed, and others,
i ncl udi ng Khal eel Ahmed, researched the purchase of
firearms, methods of obtaining firearms instruction,
including at |east one visit to a firing range, and
met hods of obtaining instruction in gunsmthing.

And from a date unknown, but no |ater than

July 4, 2004, the defendant, Zubair Ahmed, and ot hers,
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1| including Khal eel Ahmed, acquired, collected, and

2| distributed materials including videos of attacks on

3] US. mlitary forces in Iraq and Afghani stan, manuals on

41 mlitary tactics, and mlitary manual s on weaponry.

5 That's with respect to Zubair Ahnmed.

6 THE COURT: Okay. Did you hear what M.

7| Herdman just recited fromthe plea agreement --

8 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, | did.

9 THE COURT: -- and the information? |s what

10| he said about what you did accurate?

11 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, sir.
12 THE COURT: And did you do it with the
13| intent to engage in hostile or violent activities

14 over seas?

15 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, | did, Your
16 Honor .
17 THE COURT: W th the intent to do so agai nst

18| U.S. mlitary personnel in either Iraq or Afghanistan?

19 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

20 THE COURT: Was it your intent to
21| participate in the insurgency in lrag or in sim]/lar
22| activities in Afghanistan?

23 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, sir.

24 THE COURT: Was it your intent, if you had

25| the opportunity to do so, to engage in an armed conflict
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1| with the U S. mlitary personnel in either Iraq or
2| Afghanistan?
3 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
4 THE COURT: And you took a trip to Egypt; is
5] that correct?
6 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, sir.
7 THE COURT: \When was that again? Was that
8 May ?
9 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: 2004. May, 2004.
10 THE COURT: And your cousin Khal eel took
11| that trip with you?
12 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, sir.
13 THE COURT: \Why did you take that trip?
14 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: To join the
15| conspiracy in either Iraq or Afghanistan.
16 THE COURT: Did you make Khal eel aware of
17| that's why you were taking that trip?
18 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, sir.
19 THE COURT: WaAs it your understanding at the
20 time that that's why he was acconmpanyi ng you?
21 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, sir.
22 THE COURT: Then you were intercepted by M.
23| El-Hindi; is that correct?
24 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: And ny father.
25 THE COURT: And your father. That's right.
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And you returned honme to Chicago?

DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes.

THE COURT: And a few weeks | ater you went
to Cleveland; is that correct --

DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: -- for that conference that
weekend? And did you go there because you'd been in
contact with M. El-H ndi or he with you? s that how

you happened to wind up going over there? How did that
come about ?

MS. WHI TAKER: Your Honor, are you referring
to Egypt or --

THE COURT: Cl evel and.

DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: | went to hang out
brochures for a medical school with M. EI-Hindi.

THE COURT: But during the course of that
meeting you had conversations with him or others who
were there about the possibility of engaging, becom ng
trained to prepare to engage in armed conbat agai nst

US mlitary personnel in Iraq or Afghanistan; is that

correct? And if I'"m msstating it, that's fine;

correct ne. Don't just agree with what |I'm saying.
DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: | had conversations

about being trained to use firearms. | had conversation

with certain individuals regarding the use of firearnms
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1| and counter-surveillance measures.
2 THE COURT: Did you want to do that in whole
3| or part so that you could be prepared to travel to Iraq
4| or Afghani stan and engage in armed conbat with U. S.
5| mlitary personnel ?
6 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
7 THE COURT: That's why you wanted to get
8| that training?
9 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, sir.
10 THE COURT: Were you aware at the time that

11| you travelled to Egypt it m ght have been a violation of

12| American law for you to take that trip with the purpose

13| with which you took it?
14 MR. Gl LBERT: You' re asking him whet her
15| was aware then or now?

16 THE COURT: Then. Let me rephrase it.

he

At

17| the time you took the trip to Egypt, did you know that

18 | undertaking to kill or maim American soldiers was a

19 violation of U.S. | aw?

20 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, sir.
21 THE COURT: And you're aware of that today?
22 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, sir.
23 THE COURT: And |ikew se, when or after you

24| were talking about getting the firearms and ot her

25| training during or after the trip to Cleveland, were you
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1| aware that getting that kind of training with the

2| purpose ultimately of going to lIraq or Afghanistan and

3| engaging in armed combat with U S. mlitary personne
41 violated U. S. |aw?

5 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, sir.

6 THE COURT: And was it your ultimate overall

7| purpose to provide support to those who were fighting
8| against American mlitary personnel in either Iraq or
9| Afghanistan?

10 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
11 THE COURT: And in furtherance of that

12 | purpose mainly to engage in armed combat agai nst

13| American mlitary personnel in either of those

14| countries, did you acquire and distribute videos and

15| other materials that m ght have been useful to you in
16 | | earning how to do those things?

17 Let me ask you this, if I may: At sone

18 | point before July 4 of 2004, did you watch videos that

19| you thought would be useful to you to help you prepare

20| for your trip to lIlraq or Afghanistan?

21 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: | thought it was
22 | educational, Your Honor, but not useful.

23 THE COURT: Okay. \What were sone of the

24| videos, if you can renmenber? What did you show?

25 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: They were videos of




15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

18:

18:

18:

18:

18:

18:

18:

18:

18:

18:

18:

19:

19:

19:

19:

19:

19:

19:

19:

19:

19:

19:

19:

19:

19:

18

26

28

30

32

34

38

44

46

56

58

02

04

08

10

10

12

18

22

26

34

36

46

48

52

Case: 1:08-cr-00G98 IbCuent#:1B8 Filed: 0T2034189P 460/ 8 hf BAGREGeHD 1303

46

1 mortar attacks, | ED roadsi de -- detonated roadside
2 bombs, of that nature.

3 THE COURT: Were those attacks agai nst

41 American mlitary personnel so far as you could tell?

5 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor,
6| but not only mlitary personnel.

7 THE COURT: Were they videos of what you
8| would understand would comonly be understood as

9| terroristic acts? Were they terroristic acts?

10 MR. Gl LBERT: Your Honor, that takes -- it

11| takes it to a level that it may get into semantics.
12 THE COURT: No probl em You can ignore

13| that question.

14 MS. WHI TAKER: | think he can respond, Your
15 Honor .

16 THE COURT: There's been an objection.

17| That's fine. Let me ask government counsel that in

18 | addition to nmy consideration of the matters set out in

19| the plea agreenment, which generally the government

20| summarized, in view of my conversation with M. Zubair

21| Ahmed to further develop some of that information, is
22| there anything further that the government --

23 That's okay. The record should show that
24| M. Zubair Ahmed was consulting with counsel. 11

25| start that over. Consult as nuch as you want.
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1 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: We're done now,

2 Your Honor .

3 THE COURT: | ' m asking the gover nment

4| whether there's an adequate factual basis for me to find

5| defendants did -- the defendant Zubair Ahmed comm tted
6| the crime with which he is charged and to which it's

7| anticipated he will plead guilty.

8 MR. HERDMAN: Yes, Your Honor, the

9| governnent believes so.

10 THE COURT: There will be that finding on
11| the basis of what is recited in the plea agreement with
12| regard to the defendant's activities, on the basis as

13| well as the presentation of M. Herdman, and the basis

14| as well of nmy colloquy with the defendant.

15 So, M. Zubair Ahmed -- first let me say

16 | again, to repeat, | believe that the defendant's

17| conpetent to plead, to offer a plea of guilty, that

he

18 | understands his rights and consequences of his plea, and

19 | have no doubt that his plea is a voluntary deci si

on on

20| his part being entered into knowi ngly and intelligently.

21 | believe the defendant is aware of the rights that
22| he'll be giving up by pleading guilty. | believe there
23| is an adequate factual basis for himto plead guilty and

24 | upon which to base a finding of guilty if, in fact,

25| is guilty.

he
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1 So, M. Zubair Ahmed, | would ask you to
2| stand and tell me what your plea is.
3 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: | plead guilty,
4|1 Your Honor.
5 THE COURT: Okay. Thank you.
6 In Iight of the plea of guilty, in light of
7| my previous findings, there will be a finding of guilty,
8| and the defendant will be referred for sentencing, which
91 I will discuss that process shortly.
10 M. Khal eel Ahmed, have you listened to what
11| M. Herdman had to say and -- well, first of all, you

12 | have read the plea agreement with regard to what it says

13| about what you did; is that correct?

14 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHVMED: Yes, Your Honor.
15 THE COURT: And you concur in the statenent
16 | in that agreenent?

17 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHVMED: Yes, Your Honor.
18 THE COURT: Do you agree with it? And did

19| you hear what M. Herdman said with regard to Zubair
20| Ahmed and what | said with regard to your cousin's
21| activities?

22 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor

23 THE COURT: M. Herdman, if you can state

24 | what the government, according to your understanding,

25| would prove had the case or were the case to go to
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1| trial.
2 MR. HERDMAN: W th respect to defendant
3| Khal eel Ahmed, Your Honor, were this case to have
4| proceeded to trial, the government could have proven
51 beyond a reasonabl e doubt that the defendant, Khal ee
6 | Ahmed, conspired along with others, including Zubair
7| Ahmed, to provide material support and resources,
8| including but not limted to hinmself as personnel,
9| knowi ng and intending material support and resources
10| were to be used in preparation for and in carrying out a

11 violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 956,

12| conspiracy to kill and maim individuals outside the
13| United States, including menbers of the U S. military
14| serving in Iraq and Afghanistan.

15 As overt acts in furtherance of this

16 | conspiracy, at a date unknown, but no |l ater than Apri

17| 1, 2004, Defendant Khal eel Ahmed and others, including

18 | Zubair Ahmed, made preparations to travel overseas in

19| order to engage in acts which would result in the murder

20 or maimng of US. mlitary forces in either Ilraq or
21| Afghani stan.

22 On or about May 21, 2004, the defendant,

23 | Khal eel Ahmed, and others, including Zubair Ahmed, did,

24| in fact, travel to Cairo, Egypt with the intent of

25| engaging in acts which would result in the murder or
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1| maimng of US. mlitary forces in Iraq or Afghanistan.

2 On or about July 4, 2004, the defendant,

3| Khal eel Ahmed, discussed, sought, and received

4 instruction from another individual in Clevel and, Ohio

5| on the topic of firearms. On the same date the

6 | defendant, Khal eel Ahnmed, also sought and di scussed
7] instruction fromthe same individual on the topics of
8| counter-surveillance techniques and sniper rifles.

9 From a date unknown, but no l|later than

10| January 1, 2004, the defendant, Khal eel Ahmed, and

11| others, including Zubair Ahmed, communicated using code

12 | words and spoke in a foreign |anguage in order to

13| disguise their preparations and plans to engage in acts

14| outside the United States which would result in the
15| murder or maimng of U S. mlitary forces in Irag and

16 | Af ghani st an.

17 From a date unknown but no |ater than July

18 | 4, 2004, the defendant, Khal eel Ahmed, and others,
19| including Zubair Ahmed, researched the purchase of
20| firearms, methods of obtaining firearnms instruction,
21 including at | east one visit to a firing range, and

22 | methods of obtaining instructions in gunsmthing.

23 From a date unknown but no later than July

241 4, 2004, the defendant and others, including Zubair

25| Ahmed, acquired and collected materials, including
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videos of attacks on U S. mlitary forces in Iraq and
Af ghani stan, manuals on mlitary tactics and mlitary
manual s on weaponry.

That's with respect to Khal eel Ahmed, Your
Honor .

THE COURT: M. Khal eel Ahmed, did you hear
what M. Herdman just recited?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHVMED: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: | s that accurate and correct?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, it's correct.

THE COURT: Did you do those things?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, | did, Your
Honor .

THE COURT: And did you do those things in
whol e or in part with the intent of going to either Iraq
or Afghani stan and engagi ng in combat agai nst American
mlitary personnel ?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Were you aware at the time that
if you were to take that trip or do those things in
preparation for that purpose that you'd be violating
American | aw?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, | knew this.

THE COURT: Nonet hel ess, it was your intent

to prepare yourself to be able to engage in armed
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1| conflict against American mlitary personnel in Iraq or
2| Afghanistan?
3 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: That's correct.
4 THE COURT: And is that why you took the
5| trip to Egypt --
6 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
7 THE COURT: -- until you were intercepted by

8| your uncle and M. El-Hindi?

9 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
10 THE COURT: And did you express that intent

11| and purpose to your cousin Zubair before or during the

12| trip?
13 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHNED: Yes, Your Honor.
14 THE COURT: So far as you were aware, he

15| knew why you were taking that trip with him was

16| ultimately to find your way to either Iraq or

17 | Afghani stan and, if possible, to engage in arnmed

18| conflict against American mlitary personnel; is that

19 correct?

20 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: That's correct.
21 THE COURT: Wth the intent or consequence
22| of killing or maim ng?

23 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHVMED: Yes, Your Honor.
24 THE COURT: \While you were in Cleveland a

25| few weeks later, did you have conversations with various
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1| people, including perhaps M. EI-Hi ndi or

2| or others,
3| prepare you to return to the M ddl e East,
4 | Afghani st an,
5 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED:
6| discussions.

7 THE COURT: Did you know at t
8| those discussions or were thinking about

9] things that doing those things, in other

with regard to doing things that

and engage in the same sorts of

Yes,

Darren Griffin
woul d hel p

either lraq or
activities?

we had t hose

he time you had
doi ng those

wor ds,

10 preparing yourself and putting yourself in a position
11| where you would be able, if you're able to get to Iraq
12 or Afghanistan, to engage in armed conflict with

13| Anmerican soldiers, that all of that would be in

14| violation of American | aw?

15 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHVMED: Yes, | was awar e,
16 | sir.

17 THE COURT: Did you purchase a firearm at
18 | some point?

19 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: No, Your Honor.
20 THE COURT: You did not?

21 MR. HERDMAN: That's correct, Your Honor.

22 THE COURT: Ckay. Did you go to the firing
23| range at some point?

24 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHVMED: " m sorry?

25 THE COURT: Did you go to a firing range at
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some point?

for trainin

prepare you

upon return

Af ghani st an

second?

and M. Khal eel Ahmed's attorneys, is there anything

further that | should or need to ask before determ ning,

in |ight of
agreenment,

col l oquy wi

adequate factual basis upon which to determ ne that he,

in fact, co

guilty?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, | did.

THE COURT: Why did you do that?

(Di scussion had off the record.)

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Your Honor, it was
g purposes.

THE COURT: By "training" you mean to

rself to be able to engage in armed conflict
ing to -- upon going to either lraq or
?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

MR. SLADE: Your Honor, can you give us a

THE COURT: Sur e.
(Di scussion had off the record.)

THE COURT: Okay. Let nme ask the government

the statements contained in the plea

the recitation by M. Herdman, and ny

th M. Khal eel Ahmed, that there is an

mmtted the offense to which he's pleading

MR. HERDMAN: The governnment is satisfied
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with the factual basis.

THE COURT: Counsel ?

MR. SLADE: Not hi ng from us, Judge.

THE COURT: There will be a finding there is
an adequate factual basis for a plea of guilty and that
the plea will be offered knowi ngly, intelligently, and
voluntarily, and with the full understanding of the
nature of the offense to which the plea is being offered
and the consequences of conviction, and the defendant is
conpetent to offer a plea.

So now | ask M. Khal eel Ahmed, what is your
plea to the superseding information?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: | plead guilty.

THE COURT: There will be a finding of
guilty based upon the findings just recited, and the
defendant's plea, which again | find to be knowi ng,
intelligent, and voluntary.

There were a couple of things that | just
want to confirm that you were aware of before you
entered your plea of guilty. | believe | alluded to
this earlier, but just to confirm

M. Zubair Ahmed, do you understand that you
cannot appeal anything to do with these proceedi ngs or
ot herwi se challenge themin this court or any other

court except if | gave you a sentence that was greater
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1| than 15 years? Number one, do you understand that?
2 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
3 THE COURT: And that the only other basis on
41 which you can appeal is if | gave you a sentence that

5| was greater than the guideline range recited in your

6| agreement?

7 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
8 THE COURT: Ot herwi se you understand there
9| are -- you're giving up any and all rights that you

10| m ght otherw se have to chall enge any aspect of these

11| proceedings? Do you understand that?

12 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

13 THE COURT: You understood that at the time

14| you entered your plea a few m nutes ago?

15 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

16 THE COURT: Do you al so understand that as

17| provided in paragraph 23 that the agreenment you've

18 | reached and the plea of guilty has no effect on other

19| jurisdictions that m ght want to bring charges agai nst

20| you? Do you understand that?

21 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.
22 THE COURT: M. Khal eel Ahmed, did you hear
23| what | just asked your cousin about waiving any and al

24| rights to appeal or otherwi se to challenge in this or

251 any other court any aspect of these proceedi ngs except




15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

15:

33:

33:

33:

33:

33:

33:

33:

34:

34:

34:

34:

34:

34:

34:

34:

34:

34:

34:

34:

34:

34:

34:

34:

34:

35:

50

54

54

54

56

56

58

00

02

06

14

16

18

18

20

24

26

28

36

42

48

52

54

56

02

Ceme: 1t TF-a-00688 - DEInbat # 135 Fited 0DDBABP & G50l F2apatp R 4316

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

57

with regard to sentencing? Did you hear what | just
asked hi nm?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Do you have that same
under st andi ng?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, | do.

THE COURT: I n other words, the only

chal l enge or appeal that you can make or take here or

anywhere else is if | give you nore than 15 years as a
sentence, or even if | go above the maxi mum end of the
gui deline range recited in your agreenment. Do you

under stand that?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: | understand.

THE COURT: Did you understand that when you
were offering your plea a couple m nutes ago?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Li kewi se, did you -- do you
understand and did you understand then that the
government's agreement is limted to the United States
Attorney's Office in the Northern District of Ohio, and
is not binding on any other jurisdiction, state or
federal ? Do you understand that?

MR. SLADE: Your Honor, it's also binding on
the counter-terrorism section of the Department of

Justi ce.
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DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHVMED: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You understood that when you
were entering the plea?

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: |s there anything further?

"Il talk about the presentence report and so forth, but
with regard to the offering of a guilty plea and finding
of guilt?

Any, if you'll give me the originals, | wl
approve the agreenents.

Anyt hing el se?

MR. HERDMAN: We did have one issue to
di scuss at sidebar. | don't know if you want to do
t hat now.

THE COURT: Why don't you come on up now.

(Di scussion had off the record.)

THE COURT: Counsel, | think it's
appropriate to indicate that the plea agreenments are
under seal .

Let me speak with the defendants in terms of
what wi ||l happen next. | assume that your attorneys
have indicated to you the next step of the proceedings
is to prepare for sentencing. That begins with a
meeting with the United States Pretrial Service and

Probation Office, which will conduct one or nore
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interviews of you |ooking to determ ne as much as can be
| earned that's pertinent about you and your background,
your education, enploynment record, your famly
circumstances, and so forth, prior crimnal record if
any, though it's ny understandi ng that neither of you
has a prior crimnal record; is that correct?

DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHMED: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You have the absolute right to
have your | awyer with you during that interview, and I
woul d encourage you to have your |awyer in attendance
with you. Counsel , of course, will continue to be
compensated throughout the balance of these proceedings
wi t hout cost to yourself.

Thereafter a presentence report will be

prepared and submtted to you and the gover nnent

| awyers. Your | awyers can go over that report with
you. You'll have the right to call to their attention,
they in turn will call it to my attention, anything

that's erroneous or a msstate or wrong in that report.
If you and the government disagree about the accuracy of
somet hing that's contained in the report, then at tinme
of sentencing we'll hold a hearing on that, and ||

make my mnd up as to which version to accepted or agree

with, or I will sinmply say, look, I'm not going to pay
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1| any attention to that at tinme of sentencing.
2 Thereafter you'll be notified of when to
3| appear for sentencing.

4 Anything further from the government?

5 MR. HERDMAN: Your Honor, the government at

6 this time would move for remand of the defendants based

7] on argunments and representations we've made at prior

8| detention hearings and their convictions.

9 THE COURT: They' ve appeared for al
10 | proceedi ngs; they appeared today. | think there's
11| every indication they will appear at tinme of sentencing,

12| and | believe that the conditions previously inmposed

13 have shown thensel ves to be sufficient to insure their

14 | appearance, and the government's request wll be
15| overrul ed. The sanme conditions of release will be

16 conti nued.

17 Do you understand that, M. Zubair Ahmed?
18 DEFENDANT ZUBAI R AHMED: Yes, | do.
19 THE COURT: All the conditions you've had

20| since you were released, unless they've been amended,

21| just can't recall, but as they are today remain in

22 | effect.

23 M . Khal eel Ahmed, you understand that?
24 DEFENDANT KHALEEL AHVMED: Yes, Your Honor.

25 THE COURT: Anything further fromthe
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1| government ?
2 MR. HERDMAN: Your Honor, | apol ogize. I f we
3| could just approach one nmore tinme briefly with counsel.
4 (Di scussion had off the record.)
5 THE COURT: Anything further from the
6| government ?
7 MR. HERDMAN: No, Your Honor.
8 THE COURT: Counsel for Zubair Ahnmed,
9| anything further?
10 MR. SLADE: Not hi ng further, Your Honor.
11 THE COURT: For Khal eel Ahmed?
12 MR. Gl LBERT: Not hi ng further from us, Your
13 Honor .
14 THE COURT: If you want to come back while
15| make that other call, you're welconme to do so. Okay.
16 | That will conclude this proceeding.
17 - - -
18 CERTI FI CATE
19
20 | certify that the foregoing is a correct transcript
21| fromthe record of proceedings in the above-entitled
22 matter.
23
241 /s Tracy L. Spore
25 Tracy L. Spore, RMR, CRR Dat e
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